
THOMASVILLE CITY COUNCIL MEETING BRIEFING AGENDA 
Monday, March 11, 2024 – 4:00 P.M. 

20 Stadium Drive, Thomasville, NC 27360 
Mayor Raleigh York, Jr. ~ Mayor Pro Tem Doug Hunt 

1. Call to Order 

2. Additions and Deletions to the Agenda 

3. Public Forum on March 18, 2024 – Please sign up in person to speak for two minutes on any topic. 
The two-minute time limit will be enforced. 

4. Recognitions and Presentations on March 18, 2024 

A. Proclamation – Developmental Disabilities Awareness Month (March) 
B. Proclamation – Brighter Vision Day (April 13, 2024) 

 
5. Public Hearings on March 18, 2024 

A. Request for Rezoning (Z-24-01) 

Applicant/Owner: Faisal Alazzawi 
Location:  606 Old Raleigh Road 
Parcel Number: 1633600000035A  
Existing Zoning: C-2 Highway Commercial 
Requested Zoning: M-2CU Heavy Industrial Highway Commercial 
Conditional Use: The property will be used exclusively for operation as a  
   garage for semi-trucks, trailers, parking, small office space. 
 

The Board of Planning & Adjustment held a public hearing on February 27, 2024 and voted 5 - 0 
to approve this request.  
***To pass this rezoning, Council must find that this zoning amendment is reasonable and in the 
public’s interest due to its consistency with the comprehensive plan and, as a result, its furtherance 
of the goals and objectives of the comprehensive plan.*** 
 
B. Request for Rezoning (Z-24-03) 

Applicant/Owner: 4 Amigos Investing, Inc.   
Location:  404 Davidson Street     
Parcel Number: 1037000H0001A   
Existing Zoning: C-1CU Neighborhood Commercial 
Conditional Use: Agriculture 
Requested Zoning: R-8 Medium Density Residential    
 

The Board of Planning & Adjustment held a public hearing on February 27, 2024 and voted 5 - 0 
to approve this request.  
***To pass this rezoning, Council must find that this zoning amendment is reasonable and in the 
public’s interest due to its consistency with the comprehensive plan and, as a result, its furtherance 
of the goals and objectives of the comprehensive plan.*** 
 
 
 



Page 2      City Council Briefing Meeting Agenda  March 11, 2024 

6. Regular Agenda on March 11, 2024
A. Consideration of Revised Grant Project Ordinance – Nucor Sewer Extension Project: Golden 

Leaf Grant
B. Consideration of Revised Grant Project Ordinance – Nucor Water/Sewer Extension Project: 

State IDF Utility Account Grant

7. Consent Agenda on March 18, 2024
A. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Briefing Meeting on February 12, 2024
B. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Council Meeting on February 19, 2024

8. Regular Agenda on March 18, 2024
A. Consideration of Resolution Awarding Badge and Service Weapon to Retiring Police Officer 

Tracy Pierce
B. Consideration of Budget Amendment 2024-P9-01
C. Consideration of Grant Project Ordinance – 2022 TPD: Byrne Justice Assistance Grant (JAG)
D. Consideration of Grant Project Ordinance – 2023 TPD: Byrne Justice Assistance Grant (JAG)
E. Consideration of Conceptual Streetscape Master Plan
F. Consideration of Amendment to Appendix A of the Thomasville Personnel Policy – Fire Trainee
G. Consideration of Amended Davidson County Economic Development Commission By-Laws
H. Consideration of Artificial Intelligence Use Policy for City Employees
I. Consideration of Resolution in Support of Development of an Outdoor Fitness Court as Part 

of the 2024 National Fitness Campaign
J. Consideration of Settlement Agreement with John & Jeff Schwarz, LLC

K. Consideration of Re-approval of Personnel Agreements:

i. City Manager Michael Brandt
ii. City Attorney Misti Whitman

L. Consideration of Resolution to Conduct a Public Hearing for Petition for Closure of Alley on Clay 
Street 

M. Consideration of Road Closure Ordinances:

i. Spring Daze (May 4th) 
ii. Parade of Excellence  (May 24th)
iii. Memorial Day Parade  (May 27th)

9. Committee Reports and Appointments, Mayor’s Report and Appointments, City Manager’s Report,
City Attorney’s Report on March 18, 2024

10. Closed Session on March 18, 2024 – Personnel

11. Additional Items

12. Adjournment



~ Proclamation ~  
national DeveloPmental Disability  

awareness month  
 

whereas, The month of March has been designated as “National Developmental 
Disability Awareness Month” to celebrate and recognize people with 
developmental disabilities; and 

 
whereas, Disabilities are a natural part of the human experience and in no way 

diminish the right of individuals with disabilities to live independently, 
enjoy self-determination, make choices, contribute to society and 
experience fully in the economic, political, social, cultural and educational 
mainstream of American society; and 

 
whereas, Local employers and members of the community can play an essential 

role in enhancing the lives of people with developmental disabilities by 
providing necessary support services and understanding that people with 
developmental disabilities can engage in competitive work in inclusive 
settings; and 

 
whereas, The goals of this city, county and state include providing individuals with 

developmental disabilities the opportunities and support to: 
 

- make informed choices and decisions;  
- live in homes and communities where such individuals can exercise 

their full rights and responsibilities as citizens;  
- pursue meaningful and productive lives;  
- contribute to their family, community, state and nation;  
- have interdependent friendships and relationships with others; and  
- achieve full inclusion in society. 

 
now, thereFore, I, Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor of Thomasville, North Carolina, do 
hereby proclaim the month of March as  

 
national DeveloPmental Disability awareness month. 

 
This the 18th day of March, 2024. 
 
 
__________________________ 
Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 



 
City of Thomasville, North Carolina 

~Proclamation~ 
 

Lions Brighter Vision Day 
 

WHEREAS, the Lions Club is a worldwide organization that 
was founded over 100 years ago with a mission to improve 
health and well-being, strengthen communities, 
support those in need through humanitarian services 
and grants that impact lives globally, and encourage 
peace and international understanding; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Thomasville Lions Club is going to hold an 
event on April 13, 2024 called “Lions Brighter Vision Day” to 
raise funds for the visually and hearing impaired. The local 
goal is to raise $130,000 for the Thomasville/Fairgrove/Pilot 
District. The State goal is $750,000. 100% of the funds raised 
will go to the cause. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor of 
Thomasville North Carolina do hereby proclaim April 13, 2024 
as  

“Lions Brighter Vision Day” 
 
and I encourage everyone to participate in this event and 
support this worthy cause. 
 
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and 
caused to be affixed the Great Seal of Thomasville on this the 
18th day of March, 2024. 
 
 

________________________ 
 Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor  

Thomasville, North Carolina 
 



Admin. Use Only:

PSafe 4

Council Action Requested:

Rezoning Case Record

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Public Safety

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 1.8.2024

Item Name:
Set Public Hearing for Rezoning Case Z-24-01

Description of Item:
Applicant/Owner: Faisal Alazzawi
Location:  606 Old Raleigh Road 
Parcel Number: 1633600000035A
Existing Zoning:  C-2 Highway Commercial
Proposed Zoning:  M-2CU Heavy Industrial  Highway Commercial 

Back-Up Materials:

Set Public Hearing for Rezoning Case Z-24-01

Requested By: Chuck George Department: PIE



























































































1 
 

MINUTES FOR THE THOMASVILLE CITY COUNCIL BRIEFING MEETING ON 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 12, 2024 AT 4:00 PM AT 20 STADIUM DRIVE, THOMASVILLE, 
NC. 

 
Elected officials in attendance: Mayor Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor Pro Tempore Lisa Shell, 
and Council Members Neal Grimes, Doug Hunt, Hunter Thrift, and Payton Williams. 
JacQuez Johnson and Pat Shelton were absent. 
 
1. Call to Order - Mayor York called the Briefing meeting of the Thomasville City Council 

to order.  
 

2. Additions and Deletions to the Agenda  
 

City Manager Brandt asked that Council make the following changes to the agenda: 
 
- Add a Closed Session for February 12, 2024 for Attorney/Client, Personnel and 

Economic Development matters 
 
Council Member Grimes moved to approve the agenda as amended. Council Member 
Hunt seconded. Motion unanimously approved 5 – 0.  
 

3. Public Forum to be held on February 19, 2024. People can sign up to speak for two 
minutes on any topic. 

4. Recognitions and Presentations on February 19, 2024 – Proclamation: Black 
History Month presented to former Council Member Wendy Sellars. 
 

5. Public Hearings to be held on February 19, 2024.  
 

A. Consideration of Ordinance to Repair or Demolish Unit at 219 Tower Road 
 Paul E. Lewis Heirs, Nathaniel E. Lewis  

 Planning Director Chuck George advised that Habitat For Humanity planned to 
attend this hearing to share the issues they’ve had with theft of power and 
supplies at night from people hanging around on this property. 

B. Consideration of Ordinance to Repair or Demolish Unit at 114 College Street 
 Freeman Family Trust, Kenya Alexis Young  

Planning Director Chuck George advised that there have been having issues with 
vagrants and illegal activities at this property. He said, “It has been a nuisance to 
the community.” 

C. Consideration of Amendment to Zoning Ordinance (Z-24-02) Article V, Section 
2, Table of Permitted Uses to allow Microbreweries and Micro-distilleries in C-4, 
M-1 and M-2  

D. Annual Generic Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Public 



2 
 

Hearing 

City Manager Brandt said CDBG Hearings require two public hearings. This 
“generic” hearing is just an acknowledgement that the City may accept funds from 
the CDBG Program this year. Later, if there are specific CDBG projects, a second 
public hearing will be held to share the details.  

This is for information purposes only, and no Council action is required. 

The following items were put on the Consent Agenda by the Council members for 
consideration on February 19, 2024: 

 
6. Consent Agenda  

A. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Briefing Meeting on 01/08/24 

B. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Council Meeting on 01/16/24  

C. Consideration of Hotel Occupancy Tax Voluntary Disclosure Agreement  

The following items were put on the Regular Agenda by the Council members for 
consideration on February 19, 2024: 
 
7. Regular Agenda   

A. Consideration of Acceptance of Resignation of Council Member and 
Appointment of Replacement to Fill the Remaining Term of Office 

B. Consideration of Budget Amendment 2024-P8-01 as explained at Committees 

8. Committee Reports and Appointments, Mayor’s Report and Appointments, City 
Manager’s Report, City Attorney’s Report on February 19, 2024 

9. Closed Session on February 12, 2024 – Personnel, Attorney/Client & Economic 
Development Matters  

Council Member Hunt moved to go into closed session for attorney/client and 
Personnel matters. Council Member Thrift seconded. Motion unanimously approved 
5 – 0. 

Council returned to open session. No action was taken in closed session. 

Council Member Hunter Thrift left the meeting. 

10. Closed Session on February 19, 2024 – Personnel & Attorney/Client Matters  

11. Additional Items – N/A 

12. Adjournment – Council Member Grimes moved to adjourn. Council Member Hunt 



3 
 

seconded. Motion unanimously approved 4 – 0. 
 

____________________________ 
 Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 
 

____________________________ 
Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk  
 



1 
 

THOMASVILLE CITY COUNCIL MEETING SUMMARY 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 19, 2024 AT 6:00 PM 
20 STADIUM DRIVE, THOMASVILLE, NC. 

 
Elected officials in attendance: Mayor Raleigh York, Jr.; Mayor Pro Tempore Lisa Shell; 
and Council Members Neal Grimes, Doug Hunt, JacQuez Johnson, Pat Shelton, Hunter 
Thrift and Payton Williams.  
 
1. Call to Order – Mayor York called the meeting of the Thomasville City Council to order 

and welcomed everyone in attendance in person and online. 
 
2. Additions and Deletions to the Agenda – There were no additions or deletions to the 

agenda. Council Member Thrift moved to approve the agenda as presented. Council 
Member Hunt seconded. Motion unanimously approved 7 – 0. 
 

3. Public Forum – Nobody came forward to speak. 
 

4. Recognitions and Presentations: Proclamation – Black History Month 

Council Member Johnson presented this Proclamation to former Council Member 
and current School Board Member Wendy Sellars.  
 
Mrs. Sellars thanked Council for recognizing Black History month for many years. 
She also invited the public to join her at the 5th annual Black History Month program 
at Ball Park Recreation Center on February 23rd from 5 – 8 PM for displays, a 
speaker, dancers, two Black Excellence Awards and information on local African 
American trailblazers. 

 
5. Public Hearings – Nobody came forward to speak for or against any of these items. 

A. Consideration of Ordinance to Repair or Demolish Unit at 219 Tower Road 
Paul E. Lewis Heirs, Nathaniel E. Lewis  

Mayor York opened the public hearing.  
 
Minimum Housing Inspector Randall Markham advised that he inspected the 
property on 11/16/23 and found that the structure was not in compliance with City 
code. On that date, he notified Mr. Lewis of a hearing on 11/29/23. Mr. Lewis did 
not appear. Mr. Markham notified the owners that they had 60 days to make 
necessary repairs. The repairs were not made. He requested that City Council 
approve the demolition of the structure because it is unsafe and unfit for human 
habitation. 
 
No one spoke for or against this Ordinance. Mayor York closed the hearing. 
Council Member Hunt moved to approve this Ordinance. Council Member Shelton 
seconded. Motion unanimously approved 7 – 0. 
 



2 
 

B. Consideration of Ordinance to Repair or Demolish Unit at 114 College Street 
Freeman Family Trust, Kenya Alexis Young  

Mayor York opened the public hearing.  
 
Minimum Housing Inspector Randall Markham advised that he inspected the 
property on 11/20/23 and found the structure to be unsafe. On that date, he notified 
the owners of a hearing on 12/06/23. They did not appear. Mr. Markham then 
notified the owners that they had 60 days to make necessary repairs. The repairs 
were not made. He requested that City Council approve the demolition of the 
structure because it is unsafe and unfit for human habitation. 
 
No one spoke for or against this Ordinance.  
 
Mayor York closed the hearing. He then thanked the City’s Minimum Housing 
inspectors Randall Markham and Josh Parks for doing a great job. He said, “That’s 
a lot of work to be done here, and they’ve done a good job on both of these. We 
appreciate your efforts very much.”  
 
Council Member Hunt moved to approve this Ordinance. Council Member Shelton 
seconded. Motion unanimously approved 7 – 0. 
 

C. Consideration of Amendment to Zoning Ordinance (Z-24-02) Article V, Section 2, 
Table of Permitted Uses to allow Microbreweries and Micro-distilleries in C-4, M-1 
and M-2  

City Manager Brandt said this stems from the City’s 2035 Land Development Plan. 
The Plan recommends this type of uses for our Downtown and manufacturing 
districts. He added, “Hopefully this will spur some development in our Downtown.” 
 
Mayor York opened the public hearing. No one spoke for or against this Ordinance 
Amendment. Mayor York closed the hearing. Council Member Thrift moved to 
approve this Ordinance. Council Member Shelton seconded. Motion unanimously 
approved 7 – 0. 
 

D. Annual Generic Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Public Hearing 

Mayor York opened the public hearing.  
 
City Manager Brandt advised that no specific project is associated with this 
hearing. He explained that the City has to hold a generic hearing annually in order 
to be able to apply for CDBG grants from the North Carolina Department of 
Commerce. Each grant requires two public hearings, including this one.  
 
No one spoke for or against this matter. Mayor York closed the hearing. No Council 
action was required. 
 



3 
 

6. Consent Agenda  
 
A. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Briefing Meeting on 01/08/24 

B. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Council Meeting on 01/16/24  

C. Consideration of Hotel Occupancy Tax Voluntary Disclosure Agreement  
 
City Manager Michael Brandt explained that this was related to an online travel 
company that has informed the City that they did not pay hotel occupancy taxes 
between January 1, 2013 through September 30, 2020. This agreement approves 
this voluntary disclosure to pay the back taxes as determined by the travel 
company, with the understanding that the company name will remain confidential. 
They will provide a detailed report and full payment of the taxes within 90 days of 
the approval of this agreement. 

 
Council Member Hunt moved to approve all the items on the Consent Agenda. Council 
Member Shell seconded. Motion unanimously approved 7 – 0. 
 

7. Regular Agenda  

A. Consideration of Acceptance of Resignation of Council Member and Appointment 
of Replacement to Fill the Remaining Term of Office 

Mayor York advised that Council Member Jeannette Shepherd has not been well 
for quite some time. He read her resignation, upon the advice of her physician. 
She resigned her position as Thomasville City Council Woman as of 2/15/24. She 
thanked everyone for their prayers, phone calls and cards.  

Council Member Thrift moved to accept the resignation of Jeannette Shepherd.  
 
Council Member Williams seconded, adding, “I admire Jeannette for the work she 
did while she was here and also for allowing someone else to take over so she can 
get better. I hope she does that.” 
 
Council Member Hunt said, “She’ll be sorely missed.” 
 
Mayor York added, “She put all that she had into doing this to the best of her ability. 
I send our love and prayers out to her tonight.” 
 
Council Member Neal Grimes abstained with unanimous permission of the rest of 
Council. It was with sadness that Council unanimously approved this motion 6 – 0.  
 
Council Member Thrift then moved to appoint interim Council Member Neal Grimes 
to fill Jeannette Shepherd’s unexpired term. Council Member Shelton seconded.  
 



4 
 

Mayor York thanked the Grimes family for allowing Neal to come back to serve on 
Council. He said, “He did a great job when he was here before, and he’s doing a 
great job now, and he’ll do a great job in the future.” 
 
Council Member Grimes abstained again, with unanimous permission of the rest 
of Council. The motion was approved 5 – 1. Council Member Johnson voted 
against it. 
 
Council Member Grimes said he regretted that Mrs. Shepherd was unable to fulfill 
her term. He said, “She worked very hard to earn her victory.” He added, “Now that 
Jeannette is no longer able to complete her term, I am honored to complete it for 
her, and will do my best for the citizens of Thomasville on her behalf.” 
 
Council Member Grimes and Senator Thom Tillis’s Regional Representative 
Stephanie Blair then presented to Mayor York and Council a United States flag 
that was certified to have been flown over the US Capitol.  
 
The certificate said, “…At the request of the Honorable Thom Tillis, United States 
Senator, this flag was flown in celebration of the ribbon cutting on May 11, 2023, 
of the new Thomasville Aquatic and Community Center Housing the City Council 
Chambers.” It was signed by Chere Rexroat, RA, Acting Architect of the Capitol. 
 
Mayor York accepted the flag for the City and thanked Senator Tillis for this gift. 
He said, “We will honor and cherish this. We appreciate it so much.” 
 

B. Consideration of Budget Amendment 2024-P8-01 

City Manager Brandt said this Budget Amendment transfers $14,326 from General 
Fund Contingency for personnel salary increases and $250 to cover the full 
purchase cost of 6 Trade Street, which is the piece of property that we recently 
purchased for a Downtown parking lot. This will leave a balance of $247,445.  
 
This Budget Amendment also includes proceeds totaling $10,838 appropriated in 
the Fire Department and $3,573 in the Police Department for vehicle repairs due 
to accidents.  
 
It also appropriates $9,840 of surplus investment interest revenue in the 
Water/Sewer Fund for the purchase and configuration of four Paymentus card 
payment devices. This will allow citizens to be able to pay with a credit card at City 
Hall. 
 
Council Member Thrift moved to approve it. Council Member Hunt seconded. 
Motion unanimously approved 7 – 0. 

 
8. Committee Reports and Appointments, Mayor’s Report and Appointments, City 

Manager’s Report, City Attorney’s Report   



5 
 

 
Mayor York and Council expressed their kind thoughts and prayers regarding 
Jeannette Shepherd. They also welcomed Councilman Grimes back and thanked Pat 
Shelton for filling in for Ron Bratton during his leave of absence.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Williams invited someone to come open a microbrewery/ micro-
distillery in Thomasville. 
 
She also invited everyone to attend the Downtown Retail Market Analysis meeting on 
February 27 at 6 PM at the Aquatic Center. She said, “It would be a good opportunity 
to learn about what our Downtown is lacking, what assets we have, and how we can 
fill it out in the coming years.” 
 
The theme of Black History Month this year is “African Americans and the Arts.” She 
said, “Thomasville has a really thriving art culture, and we enjoy the contributions of 
African Americans every single day.” 
 
She gave a shout out to Daryl Poole’s team in Public Works for being so responsive 
and ready to help.  
 
Council Member Johnson wished everyone a happy Black History Month. He said it 
was an honor to be a member of Council and to reflect on some of the other African 
American trailblazers who paved the way for him, such as Former Councilman J. W. 
Mathis. He invited everyone to attend the Black History Month celebration with Ms. 
Sellars. 
 
Council Member Grimes reported that Unity United Methodist Church has operated 
as a warming center for men for 14 nights since January 16th, while Father’s 
Storehouse (across the street) operates as a warming center for Women and Children. 
He asked everyone to spread the word. Volunteers are invited to help at the church 
during the remainder of the cold weather season. 
 
On behalf of the Personnel Committee, Council Member Thrift moved to make the 
following appointments, effective March 1st:  
 
ABC Board Roger Bryant  
 
Beautification    

(3-year terms)   Denise Barnes, Nancy Griffith, Cherie Johnson, Brooke Murphy 

(2-Year term   
to fix staggering)  Nathan Smith, Hilda Warner 
 
Golf Advisory   Don Clinard, David Costello  
(Senior Golfers) 
 



6 
 

Historic Preservation    

(3-year terms)   Amanda Cox, Jennifer Mayhall, Jill Simpson 

(2-year term    
to fix staggering  David Carter 
 
Planning/Adjustment  Edward Keller, Pat Shelton  
 
Recreation   Bill Tagliaferri (3-year term) 
    William Rainey (to fill Tony Vinzini's unexpired term)  
 
Tourism   Christy Jones, Edward Keller, Leslie Watts,  
    Dee Stokes (at-large) 
 
Council Member Hunt seconded. Council Member Pat Shelton abstained with 
unanimous permission of the rest of Council. Motion unanimously approved 6 – 0. 
 
Council Member Thrift also invited everyone to Central Wesleyan Church for their 
annual pancake breakfast on March 9th from 7 – 11 AM. Donations will benefit the 
Memorial Day Parade and Ceremonies Committee. 
 
Council Member Shelton thanked Council for allowing her to fill-in for Council Member 
Bratton over the past three months. She said, “He’s healthy now. I’m so happy to 
report that.” 
 
Council Member Hunt thanked Chuck George’s department for getting Thomasville 
cleaned up. He said, “I appreciate all you guys do!” 
 
He thanked Thom Tillis’s office for presenting Council with the flag. 
 
He added that Jeannette was a close friend of his, and he will miss her. 
 
Council Member Shell also encouraged everyone to participate in Black History Month 
activities. She also wished Jeannette well and thanked Neal Grimes and Pat Shelton 
for filling in over the past few months. She is happy that Council Member Bratton’s 
health has improved. 
 
Mayor York reported that there were 3 ribbon cuttings over the last month. January’s 
Mayor Pro Tem Lisa Shell attended the ribbon cutting at Renew Integrative Wellness 
on Trade Street. He attended ribbon cuttings for grand reopenings at Piedmont 
Crossing’s Veranda Building, as well as Childress Realty on Fisher Ferry. 
 
He congratulated Nat P. Walker on his retirement from the City after over 20 years of 
service and many years of volunteering before that to give the cemetery some much-
needed TLC. He will continue to help out at the cemetery on a part-time basis. He 
said, “Nat’s heart is in what he does, and his heart is in (his work at) the cemetery.” 



7 
 

Mayor York attended the Chamber’s annual meeting, as well where they recognized 
the Citizen of the Year and other awards.  
 
It was also his honor to present a key to the City to Lois Hunter for her 49 years of 
service at the Thomasville Housing Authority. He asked for prayers for her health in 
her retirement. 
 
He thanked Pat Shelton for always being willing to come back and serve on Council 
when she is needed. He said, “You’ve always done a great job and done your 
homework. You’re always ready with all the issues. We really thank you.” 
 
City Manager Brandt thanked Got Your Six Towing Co. for cleaning up the road before 
dawn on Saturday morning, after a vehicle lost control and collided with another 
vehicle, pushing it through the window at the old Palace Theater. He said, “I just 
wanted to give them a shout out for doing that type of work on a cold, dark night when 
they could have just gotten those cars out of there and gotten home as fast as 
possible. I appreciate that they did that.” 
 
Regarding Black History Month, City Manager Brandt said, “I never think history is 
relegated to one month. It is part of our American story, so I, too, recognize Wendy 
Sellars and the work that she has done, and others throughout the community, to let 
people know the importance of all of our histories. They all play a role in our society.” 
 

9. Closed Session - Personnel and Attorney/Client 
 
Council Member Thrift moved to go into closed session for Personnel and 
Attorney/Client matters. Council Member Shelton seconded. Motion unanimously 
approved 7 – 0.  
 
Council returned to open session. No action was taken in closed session. 
 

10. Additional Items – City Manager Brandt announced that the City has received a 
$500,000 grant from the NC Commerce Industrial Development Fund to support the 
sewer extension for Nucor. These funds will reduce the cost that Nucor is contributing 
to the project. 

 
11. Adjournment – Council Member Williams moved to adjourn. Council Member Thrift 

seconded. Motion unanimously approved 7 – 0.  
 

____________________________ 
 Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 
 

____________________________ 
Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk  



Admin. Use Only:

PSafe3

Council Action Requested:

Approve Resoution Awarding Badge and Service Revolver to Retiring Officer Tracy Pierce

Requested By: Chief Dustin Carter Department: Police Department

Resolution

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Public Safety

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 1.8.2024

Item Name:
Consideration of Resolution  awarding Badge & Service Weapon to Retiring Police Officer Tracy Pierce

Description of Item:

Back-Up Materials:



CITY OF THOMASVILLE 
RESOLUTION AWARDING BADGE AND SERVICE SIDEARM 

TO RETIRING LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER  
Master Police Officer I Tracy Pierce 

 
 

WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statutes 20-187.2 provides that 
retiring members of municipal law enforcement 
agencies may receive, at the time of their retirement, the 
badge worn or carried by them during their service with 
the municipality; and 

 
WHEREAS, NCGS 20-187.2 further provides that the governing 

body of the municipal law enforcement agency may, in 
its discretion, award to a retiring member the service 
side arm of said member; and 

 
WHEREAS, MPO I Tracy Pierce has served the City of Thomasville 

Police Department for over 23 years. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the 
City of Thomasville, North Carolina that the City Manager is hereby 
authorized, in accordance with the provisions of NCGS 20-187.2 to 
transfer to MPO I Tracy Pierce the badge worn by him as well as his 
service side arm, a Sig Sauer P320, Serial # 58J190036.  
 
Duly adopted this 18th day of March, 2024 while in regular session. 
 
  
      __________________________ 
      Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 

 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________ 
Wendy S. Martin 
City Clerk  





































Admin. Use Only:

PF6

Council Action Requested:

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Personnel/Finance

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 3.5.2024

Item Name:
Consideration of Adoption of Conceptual Streetscape Master Plan

Description of Item:
City and Tourism Commission hired Withers/Ravenel to develop a conceptual master plan for creation of downtown 
streetscape improvements to the public areas. The proposed plan provides ideas and concepts that improve the flow of 
pedestrian and vehicle movement, along with wayfinding signage ideas, development of new or enhanced public 
infrastructure and other improvements.

Back-Up Materials:

Consideration of Adoption of Conceptual Streetscape Master Plan

Requested By: Tammy Joyce Department: Administration



Resolution #03-2024-RES03 

 
 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE 
THOMASVILLE DOWNTOWN STREETSCAPE MASTER PLAN 

 
WHEREAS,  The City of Thomasville’s, (the "City") downtown area provides a place-making space for 

small business opportunities, historic preservation, and revitalization for residents and 
visitors to Thomasville; and 

 
WHEREAS,  The City has recently performed an evaluation of the downtown streetscape in order to 

develop a conceptual Master Plan, which will help define the long-range capital 
improvement needs of the City; and 

 
WHEREAS,  The City Council wishes to adopt the conceptual Downtown Streetscape Master Plan for 

the City of Thomasville (the "Master Plan") dated March 2024 prepared by the firm 
WithersRavenel. 

 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Thomasville that the 
"Downtown Streetscape Master Plan" is hereby approved and shall be utilized by the Downtown 
Economic Development Department, PACE (People Achieving Community Enhancement) and City 
Council to guide future development and infrastructure of the City. 

 
Adopted this the 18th day of March, 2024. 

                 CITY OF THOMASVILLE 
   By: __________________________ 
[SEAL]     Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 

Attest: ________________________ 
        Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 

































Admin. Use Only:

PF11

Council Action Requested:

Revised By-Laws

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Personnel/Finance

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 3.5.2024

Item Name:
Consideration of Approval of Amended Davidson County Economic Development Commission By-Laws

Description of Item:
The new by-laws establish that the members of the Commission be appointed from the elected members of all of the City, 
Town, or County. Each jurisdiction appoints a regular member and an alternate.

Back-Up Materials:

Approval of new By-Laws of DCEDC

Requested By: M. Brandt Department: Administration



BYLAWS  
OF 

DAVIDSON COUNTY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION (DCEDC) 
(A NON-PROFIT CORPORATION) 

 
ARTICLE I  
OFFICE 

 
1.01. PRINCIPAL OFFICE: The principal office of the corporation in the State of North 

Carolina shall be located at 913 N. Greensboro Street, Suite 404, Lexington, 27292, Davidson County, 
North Carolina. 
 

1.02. REGISTERED OFFICE AND AGENT: The corporation shall have and continuously 
maintain in the State of North Carolina a registered office and a registered agent whose office is identical 
with such registered office. 

 
ARTICLE II  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

2.01. GENERAL POWERS: The affairs of the corporation shall be managed by its Board of 
Directors. 
 

2.02 NUMBER. TENURE AND QUALIFICATIONS: The number of Directors shall be seven (7). All 
directors shall serve three (3) year terms with an expiration of June 30th of his/her respective expiration 
year. All Directors shall continue to serve until his/her successor has been selected and shall have 
qualified.  

 
The seven (7) Directors shall be elected officials and will represent and serve as follows: 

 
One (1) shall be a member of the NC General Assembly from Davidson County;  

One (1) representing Davidson County, and an alternate;  

One (1) representing the City of Thomasville, and an alternate;  

One (1) representing the City of Lexington, and an alternate; 

One (1) representing the Town of Denton, and an alternate; 

One (1) representing the Town of Midway, and an alternate; and 

One (1) representing the Town of Wallburg, and an alternate.  

 
The alternate Director for Davidson County and each of the municipalizes will only vote in the absence of the named 
Director for the County or that municipality on any matters to come before the Commission. 
 

2.03 NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS: Each entity, as stated in aforementioned Section 2.02, 
shall make nominations for appointment to the Davidson County Board of Commissioners.  The Board shall 
maintain membership of persons who represent a good geographic and population density cross section of 
Davidson County as well as representative of various business, professional and service occupational 
classifications in the county. The nominations of each Board member shall be for a three (3) year term.  The 
appointment of members to the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be made by the Davidson County Board of 
Commissioners at one of its June meetings of each year.   
 

2.04. ANNUAL MEETING: A regular annual meeting of the Board shall be held at such place as 
shall be designated b y t h e  B o a r d  i n  July of each year. The meeting shall be held within Davidson 
County, North Carolina. 



 
2.05. SPECIAL MEETINGS: Special meetings of the Board may be called at the request of the 

Chairman or by the secretary at the request of any two Directors. The authorized person(s) calling a special 
meeting of the Board may fix any place within Davidson County, North Carolina, as the place for holding 
such meeting. 
 

2.07  NOTICE: Notice of any annual, regular, or special meeting of the Board shall be given at 
least two business days previously thereto by notice delivered via email to each Director at their email 
address as shown by the records. Any Director may waive notice of any meeting. The attendance of a 
Director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a Director 
attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the 
meeting is not lawfully called or convened. The business to be transacted at the meeting need not be 
specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting, unless specifically required by law or these 
Bylaws. 

 
2.08 QUORUM: Four (4) members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction 

of business at any meeting of the Board; but if less than a quorum is present at said meeting, a majority 
of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice. 
 

2.09 MANNER OF ACTING:  The act of a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at 
which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board, unless the act of a greater number is required 
by law or by these Bylaws. The Board may also act by written consent or approval of all of the Directors 
of the corporation setting forth the action taken. 

 

2.10 VACANCIES: Any vacancy occurring in the Board shall be immediately communicated 
to the Board of Commissioners of Davidson County, and that City or Town which nominated the 
directorship which is vacated. The Board of Commissioners of Davidson County shall select a new Director 
to fill any vacancy at the next regularly scheduled meeting provided it has received a nomination from 
the respective Town or City. A Director shall be selected as provided in Section 2.03 to fill the vacancy for 
the unexpired term of his predecessor in office. 
 

2.11 DIRECTORS - RESIDUARY POWERS:  The Board shall have the powers and duties 
necessary or appropriate for the administration of the affairs of the corporation. All powers of the 
corporation shall be vested in the Board. 

2.12 ACTION WITHOUT MEETING: Should a matter arise requiring a vote of the Directors 
between regular Board meetings, a vote may be taken by email as authorized by the Chairman. The Board 
may take action without meeting upon consent of a quorum on the item in question. The electronic 
consents shall be placed in the minutes of the next meeting of the Directors. 
 

ARTICLE III 
OFFICERS 

 
3.01 OFFICERS: The officers of the Corporation shall be a Chairman, a Vice Chairman, a 

Secretary and a Treasurer, each of whom shall be elected by the Board of Directors. 
 
3.02 ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICE AND QUALIFICATIONS:  The officers of the 

corporation to be elected by the Board of Directors shall be elected annually at the July meeting of the 



Board of Directors. Each officer shall hold office for one year or until his successor is elected and qualified, 
or until his death, removal or resignation. The Chairman and Vice Chairman must be directors of the 
corporation. The Secretary and Treasurer need not be directors of the corporation, but if they are not 
directors, will by their office become non-voting, Ex-Officio directors of the corporation. 
 

3.03. REMOVAL: Any officer may be removed at any time for cause by a three-fourths (3/4) 
vote of the directors then in office. 
 

3.04. VACANCIES: Any vacancy occurring in any office of the corporation shall be filled by the 
Board of Directors. 

 
 

3.05. CHAIRMAN: The Chairman shall be the chief executive officer of the corporation, and 
subject to the direction and under the supervision of the Board of Directors, shall have general charge of the 
business affairs and property of the corporation. He shall preside at all meetings of the directors of the 
corporation at which the Chairman is present; and shall in general perform all duties and have all powers 
incident to the office of Chairman, and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as 
from time to time may be assigned to him by these Bylaws, or by the Board of Directors. 

 
3.06 VICE CHAIRMAN: At the request of the Chairman or in the event of the absence or 

disability of the Chairman, the Vice Chairman shall perform all duties of the Chairman, and when so 
acting, shall have all the powers of, and shall be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chairman. The 
Vice Chairman shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as from time to time may be 
assigned to the Vice Chairman by these Bylaws or by the Board of Directors. 
 

3.07 SECRETARY: The Secretary shall keep minutes of the proceedings of all meetings of the 
Board of Directors. The Secretary shall have custody of the seal of the corporation and shall have authority 
to cause such seal to be affixed to, or impressed or otherwise reproduced upon all documents the 
execution and delivery of which on behalf of the corporation shall have been authorized. The Secretary 
shall keep current records of the name, mailing addresses email addresses and telephone numbers of all 
directors of the corporation. The Secretary shall perform all duties and have such other powers as may 
from time to time be assigned by these Bylaws or by the Board of Directors. 

 
3.08 TREASURER: The Treasurer, or their designee, shall have custody of the corporate 

funds and securities and shall keep full and accurate records of all receipts and disbursements in books 
belonging to the corporation. The Treasurer shall cause all monies and other valuable effects to be 
deposited in the name and to the credit of the corporation in such depositories as may be designated by 
the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall cause the funds of the corporation to be disbursed when such 
disbursements have been duly authorized, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall 
render to the Chairman and the Board of Directors, whenever requested, an account of all his transactions 
as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the corporation. The Treasurer shall perform all duties and 
have all powers incident to the office of Treasurer and shall perform such duties and have other powers as 
may from time to time be assigned by these Bylaws or by the Board of Directors. 

 
3.09 OTHER OFFICERS: Other officers may be designated by the Board of Directors as they 

from time to time deem best. 



 
ARTICLE IV 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 

 
4.01. ORDER OF BUSINESS: The order of business at any annual, regular, or special 

meeting of the Board of Directors shall be as follows: 

 
(a) Reading and approval of any unapproved minutes. 
(b) Reports of officers and/or committees. 
(c) Unfinished business. 
(d) Election of officers (if an annual meeting). 
(e) New business. 
(f) Adjournment. 

 
4.02. PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE: On questions of parliamentary procedure not 

covered in these Bylaws, a ruling by the Chairman shall prevail. 

 
ARTICLEV 

COMMITTEES 
 

5.01. COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS: The Board of Directors, with a resolution adopted 
(and attached as an Exhibit to the By-Laws) by a majority of the Directors in office, may designate one or more 
committees, each of which shall consist of three or more Directors, which committees, to the extent provided 
in said resolution, shall have and exercise the authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the 
corporation; but the designation of such committees and the delegation thereto of authority shall not operate 
to relieve the Board, or any individual directors, of any responsibility imposed upon it or him by law. 

 
5.02. OTHER COMMITTEES: Other committees, not having and exercising the authority of the 

Board of Directors in the management of the corporation, may be designated by a resolution adopted by a 
majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present or may be designated by the chairman 
of the corporation.  Any member thereof may be removed by the person or persons authorized to appoint such 
member whenever in his or their judgment the best interest of the corporation shall be served by such removal.  

 
5.03. TERM OF OFFICE: Each member of a committee shall continue as such until the next 

annual meeting of the Board of Directors of the corporation and until his successor is appointed, unless the 
committee shall be sooner terminated, unless such member be removed from such committee, or unless such 
member shall cease to qualify as a member thereof. 

5.04. CHAIRMAN: One member of each committee shall be appointed Chairman by the person or 
persons authorized to appoint the members thereof. 

5.05. VACANCIES: Vacancies in the membership of any committee may be filled by appointments 
made in the same manner as provided in the case of the original appointments. 

 

 

 



 

5.06. QUORUM: Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors 
designating a committee or the decree of the chairman creating a committee, a majority of the whole 
committee shall constitute a quorum, and the act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which 
a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee. 

5.07. RULES: Each committee may adopt rules for its own government not inconsistent with these 
Bylaws or the rules adopted by the Board of Directors. 

ARTICLE VI 
CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS, AND FUNDS 

 
6.01. CONTRACTS: The Board may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of the 

corporation, in addition to the officers so authorized by these Bylaws, to enter into any contract or execute 
and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the corporation; and such authority may be general 
or confined to specific instances. 

 
6.02. CHECKS. DRAFTS, ETC.: All checks, drafts, or orders for the payment of money, notes, 

or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the corporation shall be signed by such officer or 
officers, agent or agents of the corporation, and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by 
resolution of the Board. In the absence of such determination by the Board, such instruments shall be signed by 
the treasurer and countersigned by the chairman of the corporation. 

 
6.03 DEPOSITS: All funds of the corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of 

the corporation in such banks, trust companies, and other depositories as the Board may select. 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
BOOKS AND RECORDS 

 

The corporation shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall also keep 
minutes of the proceedings of its Board and committees having any of the authority of the Board of Directors, 
and shall keep at the registered or principal office a record giving the names and addresses of the members. All 
books and records of the corporation may be inspected by any member or his agent or attorney, for any proper 
purposes at any reasonable time. The Board shall cause an annual compilation of the records of the corporation 
to be made each year. The annual compilation shall be conducted by a CPA firm familiar with acceptable audit 
procedure. 

 
ARTICLE VIII 
FISCAL YEAR 

 
The fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the 1st day of July and end on the last day of June in 

each year. 



 
ARTICLE IX 

CORPORATE SEAL 

 
The Board shall provide a corporate seal, which shall be in the form of a circle and shall have 

inscribed thereon the name of the corporation, the words, "Corporate Seal," and "1986 - North 
Carolina." 

 
ARTICLE X 

WAIVER OF NOTICE 

 
Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the Statutes of the State of 

North Carolina or the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws of this corporation, a waiver thereof in 
writing signed by the person or persons entitled thereto, whether before or after the time stated therein, 
shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. 

 
 

ARTICLE XI 
REPEAL OR AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS 

 

12.01. Except as hereinafter specifically limited in Section 12.02, the Bylaws of this corporation 
may be repealed or amended by a majority vote of the Directors present at any annual or regular 
meeting of the Board of Directors or at any special meeting of the Board called for such purpose, at 
which a quorum is present: provided, however, that no such action shall change the purposes of this 
corporation so as to impair its rights and powers under the laws of the State of North Carolina, or to 
waive any requirement of bond or any provision for the safety and security of the property and funds of 
the corporation. Notice of any amendment to be offered at any meeting shall be given not less than 
seven nor more than 30 days before such meeting and shall set forth such proposed amendment. 

 
12.02. The Bylaws of this corporation shall not be altered, amended, repealed, or rescinded 

without the prior approval of the Board of Commissioners of Davidson County, and the City Councils of the 
Town of Denton, City of Thomasville, City of Lexington, Town of Denton, Town of Midway, and Town of 
Wallburg. 

 
 

Recommended for approval, this the _____ day of  _____________________, 2023. 
 
__________________________________ 
Chairman 
 
Attest: 
 
__________________________________ 
Secretary         

 
Adopted this the ____ day of ___________________. 2023.



DAVIDSON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
________________________________________ 
Chairman 
 
      ________________________________________ 
      Clerk to the Board 
 
 
 
CITY OF THOMASVILLE 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
 
     
 ________________________________________ 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF LEXINGTON 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



TOWN OF DENTON 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
 
      ________________________________________ 
      Town Clerk 
 
 
 
 
TOWN OF MIDWAY 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
 
      ________________________________________ 
      Town Clerk 
 
 
 

 
 
 

TOWN OF WALLBURG 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Mayor 
 
 
      ________________________________________ 
      Town Clerk 

 

 
 



Admin. Use Only:

PF12

Council Action Requested:

Proposed AI Usage Policy

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Personnel/Finance

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 3.5.2024

Item Name:
Consideration of Approval of Artificial Intelligence Use Policy for City Employees

Description of Item:
WIth the increased availability and usage of AI in the workplace there are benefits and concerns raised by its usage by City 
employees. The proposed policy addresses some of these common concerns and appropriate usage of AI systems.

Back-Up Materials:

Consideration of Approval of Artificial Intelligence Use Policy for City Employees

Requested By: M. Brandt Department: Administration



 

Policy Title: Artificial Intelligence and ChatGPT Usage Policy 

Purpose: The City of Thomasville acknowledges the potential benefits of leveraging artificial 
intelligence (AI) and associated technologies in daily work processes to enhance productivity, 
efficiency, and service delivery. This policy outlines the guidelines and best practices for the 
responsible use of AI by city employees. 

Scope: This policy applies to all employees, contractors, and individuals acting on behalf of the 
City of Thomasville who utilize AI or similar technologies in their work-related tasks and 
projects. 

Guidelines: 

1. Authorized Usage: 
o AI and associated technologies may be utilized by employees when contributing 

to routine administrative tasks, data analysis, documentation, customer service, 
and other work-related processes to improve efficiency and accuracy. 

o Employees utilizing AI technology must request written approval of the 
Department Manager explaining the usage of AI in their work processes 

o The Department Manager will submit the written request to the City Manager or 
their designee for final approval. Usage of AI before approval may result in denial 
of use and disciplinary action. 

2. Accuracy and Accountability: 
o Employees utilizing AI or associated technologies are responsible for verifying 

the accuracy of outputs and ensuring that final work products meet the city's 
quality standards. 

o Final accountability for any work product remains with the employee and 
Department Manager utilizing the technology. 

o Creation of content utilizing AI technology must be acknowledged on any internal 
draft work products. 

o City Administration will provide an appropriate public notification procedure for 
Departmental use. 

3. Data Privacy and Confidentiality: 
o Employees must adhere to established data privacy and confidentiality protocols 

when utilizing AI tools, ensuring that sensitive information or personally 
identifiable data is not compromised or shared inappropriately. 

o Data used to create AI content is potentially accessible to any AI system utilized 
by the City. Consideration of this data transfer should be a consideration when 
utilizing AI tools.  

4. Ethical Use: 
o All AI and associated technologies usage must align with ethical guidelines, 

avoiding biased or discriminatory practices and adhering to legal and ethical 
standards in decision-making processes. 

5. Training and Awareness: 



 

o The city will provide training and resources to employees on the proper use of AI 
and associated technology tools, including understanding capabilities, limitations, 
and ethical considerations. 

6. Continuous Evaluation: 
o Regular evaluations will be conducted to assess the effectiveness, impact, and 

ethical implications of AI or ChatGPT usage, with adjustments made as necessary 
to ensure responsible and beneficial use. 

Compliance and Violations: Failure to comply with this policy may result in disciplinary 
actions, which could include retraining, suspension of technology usage privileges, or other 
appropriate measures based on the severity of the violation. 

Policy Review: This policy will be subject to periodic review and updates to incorporate 
technological advancements, changes in regulations, or emerging ethical considerations related 
to AI  usage. 

Approval: This policy is effective upon approval by the City of Thomasville's governing body 
or appropriate authority. 

 



Admin. Use Only:

PF14

Council Action Requested:
Approve Resolution of Support

Requested By: C. Tobin Department: TPR

Resolution of Support

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Personnel/Finance

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 3.5.2024

Item Name:
Adoption of Resolution in Support of development of an Outdoor Fitness Court as part of the 2024 National Fitness 
Campaign

Description of Item:
The National Fitness Campaign is providing a $30,000 grant for the construction and operation of an Outdoor Fitness court. 
The Organization offers a $30,000 grant. The City is responsible for the rest of the costs associated with this ($130,000-
150,000). It is the intent of TP&R to apply for an Accessibility Grant from the State in the amount of $500,000, with a 20% 
match. The State grant funds can act as the match for NFS, while the $30,000 grant from NFS can be part of our 20% match 
requirement. This commitment of the resolution is contingent upon receipt of the State grant. If TPR does not receive the 
State grant, we will look to other funding sources, but will not be required to construct the fitness court.

Back-Up Materials:



Resolution #03-2024-RES02 

 
 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT AND ALLOCATE FUNDS FOR  
AN OUTDOOR FITNESS COURT® AS PART OF THE 2024 NATIONAL FITNESS CAMPAIGN 

 
WHEREAS,  the City of Thomasville has submitted a Grant Application to National Fitness Campaign 

(NFC) for participation in their 2024 initiative to install and activate outdoor Fitness 
Courts® in 200 cities and schools across the country; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the City of Thomasville will accept a $30,000 National Grant from the NFC Grant 

Committee and Statewide Partners, and seek to provide a local match to promote and 
implement a free-to-the-public outdoor Fitness Court®; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the City of Thomasville will work to secure supplemental funding as needed through 

community sponsors, local funds and Grant opportunities, which will be made available 
and committed to this program for the purchase of the outdoor Fitness Court®; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the City of Thomasville will commit to attempt to begin construction and launch the 

outdoor Fitness Court® by the end of the 2024 calendar year if funding allows; and 
 

WHEREAS,  the City of Thomasville believes the outdoor Fitness Court® is an important wellness 
ecosystem that supports healthier communities, commits to funding/fundraising to 
participate in NFC’s 2024 Campaign, and will earn local and national recognition as a 
leader in providing affordable health and wellness. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Thomasville will collaborate with NFC 
to implement the outdoor Fitness Court® and make fitness free to community residents and 
visitors. 

 
Adopted this the 18th day of March, 2024. 

                 CITY OF THOMASVILLE 
   By: __________________________ 
[SEAL]     Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 

Attest: ________________________ 
        Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INSERT SCHWARZ SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT HERE 



Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 

ATIEST: 
------------

Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 

Michael M. Brandt 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
-------------

Misti Boles Whitman, City Attorney 

Page 7 of 7 

City of Thomasville



Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 

ATIEST: 

Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 

Misti Boles Whitman, City Attorney  

Page 7 of 7 

City of Thomasville



Admin. Use Only:

TRAN1

Council Action Requested:
Consideration of a Resolution to Conduct a Public Hearing re: Petition for Closure of Alley on Clay Street

Requested By: W. Martin Department: Administration

Resolution for Public Hearing; Application for alley closure

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Transportation

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 3.5.2024

Item Name:
Consideration of a Resolution to Conduct a Public Hearing re: Petition for Closure of Alley on Clay Street

Description of Item:
A request to close an Alley on Clay Street has been recieved. City Council must call for a public hearing to move this request 
forward.

Back-Up Materials:



RESOLUTION OF THE THOMASVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
TO CONDUCT A PUBLIC HEARING FOR THE PURPOSE OF 

CONSIDERING A PETITION FOR THE  
CLOSURE OF THE ALLEY ON CLAY STREET 

 
A Petition having been filed with the City Council of the City of Thomasville, North 
Carolina by Milton Pena Pacheco and Elizabeth Pena Solis, requesting the City to 
close the alley on Clay Street at the following location: 

Beginning at a point not set in the Norther right-of-way line of Clay Street, said point 
being N 89º 57’ 33” E 2.57’ from an existing right-of-way monument, said 
monument having North Carolina NAD 83 Ground Coordinates (Combined Factor 
0.99989229) of Northing 777,083.11, Easting 1,674,507.23; Running thence from 
the point not set N 03º 22’ 33” E a distance of 147.69’ to a point not set; Thence N 
03º 22’ 33” E a distance of 52.60’ to a point not set; Thence S 77º 37’ 29” E a 
distance of 9.11’ to a point not set; Thence S 03º 22’ 33” W a distance of 51.04’ to a 
point not set; Thence S 03º 22’ 33” W a distance of 147.29’ to a point not set; 
Thence S 89º 57’ 33” W a distance of 9.02’ to a point not set; Which is the point of 
beginning, having an area of 0.041 Acres (1,793 Sq. Ft.) as shown as “Alleyway To 
Be Closed” on that plat entitled “Survey For: Milton Ernesto Pena Pancheco 
Elizabeth Fabiola Pena Solis” Prepared by Survey Carolina, PLLC dated January 5, 
2024, Job Number 14519 

It further appearing that Petitioners are all of the owners of adjacent property; and  

It further appearing that the closing of the alley would deny access to no one. The 
closing of said alley is not adverse to the public interest; and   

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing facts and under the power 
and authority granted to the City Council of the City of Thomasville under N.C. 
General Statute §160A-299, 

IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that a public hearing be held at the City Council Meeting at 
20 Stadium Drive, Thomasville, North Carolina at 6:00 P.M. on Monday, April 15, 2024 
to consider and act upon the said Petition for the closing of said street; and 

BE IT HEREBY FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution be published once a 
week for four (4) successive weeks prior to said hearing in the Thomasville Times, a 
newspaper published in the City of Thomasville, Davidson County, North Carolina, 
and that a copy of this Resolution be sent by registered or certified mail to all 
owners of the properties adjoining the above-described alley on Clay Street who did 
not join in the Petition for the Alley Closing, as shown on the Davidson County tax 
records, and that a Notice of the Closing and Public Hearing shall be prominently 
posted in at least two places along the said street. 
 
Adopted this 18th day of March, 2024. 
 
 Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 
Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 















 

SPRING DAZE DAY ROAD CLOSURE ORDINANCE 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF THOMASVILLE that the 
following section is adopted as Spring Daze Road Closure Ordinance, to be included in 
the Code of Ordinances, City of Thomasville, Section 78. Traffic and Vehicles, Article I. 
In General. 
 
Sec. 78-26. Spring Daze Day Road Closure of the Code of Ordinances, City of 
Thomasville, North Carolina, is hereby amended. It shall read in its entirety as 
follows:  

 
Article I.  In General 
Sec. 78-26. Spring Daze Road Closure 
 
The City Council of the City of Thomasville, pursuant to the authority granted by G.S. 
20-169, does hereby declare a temporary road closure during the date and time set 
forth below on the following described portion of a State Highway System route: 

 
Date:  Saturday, May 4, 2024 
Time:  8:00 A.M. to 3:00 P.M.   

 
Streets to be closed as follows: 
 

• East Guilford Street from BL Makers Market to Memorial Park Drive; and  
• All of Commerce Street. 

 
This ordinance shall be in effect when signs are erected giving notice of the limits and 
times of the celebration and implementation of adequate traffic control to guide 
through vehicles around the celebration area. 
 
All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed.  

            
Adopted this 18th day of March, 2024. 

 
 
_____________________________ 
Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
 Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 



THOMASVILLE PARADE OF EXCELLENCE ROAD CLOSURE ORDINANCE 
 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF THOMASVILLE that the 
following section is adopted as the Thomasville Parade of Excellence Road Closure 
Ordinance, to be included in the Code of Ordinances, City of Thomasville, Section 78. 
Traffic and Vehicles, Article I. In General. 
 
The Code of Ordinances, City of Thomasville, North Carolina, is hereby amended 
by adding Sec. 78-28. Thomasville Parade of Excellence Road Closure, and it shall 
read in its entirety as follows:  

 
Article I.  In General 
Sec. 78-28. Thomasville Parade of Excellence Road Closure 
 
The City Council of the City of Thomasville, pursuant to the authority granted by G.S. 
20-169, does hereby declare a temporary road closure during the date and time set 
forth below on the following described portion of a State Highway System route: 

 
Date:  May 24, 2024 
 
Time:  9:45 A.M. – 12:30 P.M 
 
Roads closed:  East Sunrise at Pontiac to Borders Street; 
 Duke at Georgia and Pontiac; and 
 Longview Drive @ Leach  
 
This ordinance shall be in effect when signs are erected giving notice of the limits and 
times of the celebration and implementation of adequate traffic control to guide 
through vehicles around the celebration area. 
 
All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed.  

            
Adopted this 18th day of March, 2024. 

 
 
_____________________________ 
Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 



THOMASVILLE MEMORIAL DAY PARADE ROUTE ROAD CLOSURE ORDINANCE 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF THOMASVILLE that the 
following section is adopted as the Thomasville Memorial Day Parade Route Road 
Closure Ordinance, to be included in the Code of Ordinances, City of Thomasville, 
Section 78. Traffic and Vehicles, Article I. In General. 
 
Sec. 78-24. Thomasville Memorial Day Parade Route Road Closure of the Code of 
Ordinances, City of Thomasville, North Carolina, is hereby amended. It shall read 
in its entirety as follows:  
 
Article I.  In General 
Sec. 78-24. Thomasville Memorial Day Parade Route Road Closure 

The City Council of the City of Thomasville, pursuant to the authority granted by G.S. 20-
169, does hereby declare a temporary road closure during the date and time set forth 
below on the following described portion of a State Highway System route: 
 
Date:  Monday, May 27, 2024 
Time:  7:30 A.M. – 12:00 P.M 
Route Description:  Streets to be closed as follows: 
 

• West Main Street starting at Winston Street to East Main Street at Memorial Park 
Drive; 

• Salem Street at Stadium Drive; and 
• Emma Street. 

 
This ordinance shall be in effect when signs are erected giving notice of the limits and 
times of the celebration and implementation of adequate traffic control to guide through 
vehicles around the celebration area. 
 
All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed.  
            
Adopted this 18th day of March, 2024. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
 Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 


	03-11-24 Council Briefing Agenda.
	Developmental Disabilities Awareness Month 2024
	Lions Brighter Vision Day 2024
	PSafe 4 supporting documentation
	PSafe 5 supporting documentation
	PF 1 - Supporting Documentation
	PF 2 - Supporting Documentation
	02-12-24 Council Briefing Minutes
	1. Call to Order - Mayor York called the Briefing meeting of the Thomasville City Council to order.
	2. Additions and Deletions to the Agenda

	02-19-24 Council Meeting Minutes
	1. Call to Order – Mayor York called the meeting of the Thomasville City Council to order and welcomed everyone in attendance in person and online.

	PSafe 3 supporting documentation
	BdgtAmend (2024 - P9 - 01) (1)
	PF 4 - Supporting Documentation
	PF 5 - Supporting Documentation
	PF 6 Supporting Documentation
	PF 8 Supporting Documentation
	ADPED18.tmp
	Appendix A


	PF 11 Supporting Documentation
	PF 12 Supporting Documentation
	PF 14 Supporting Documentation
	INSERT SCHWARZ SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT HERE
	INSERT BRANDT WHITMAN SIGN PGS HERE
	Tran 1 Supporting Documentation
	ADPE0CC.tmp
	RESOLUTION OF THE THOMASVILLE CITY COUNCIL


	INSERT SPRING DAYS ORDINANCE HERE
	Event Road Closing Ordinance - Parade of Excellence 05-24-24
	Event Road Closing Ordinance - Memorial Day Parade 2024



